ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAY 13 2013

Appeal from York County

South Carolina
Court of Appeals

John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVONTAY HENSON,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2011-204008

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial court err in admitting into evidence a statement made by Appellant's non-testifying co-defendant without adequately redacting his claim of Appellant's involvement in violation of Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confront and cross-examine the witness, as interpreted by Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968), and its progeny?

II. Did the trial court violate Appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to confrontation and cross-examination pursuant to Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) by allowing into evidence the statement of Appellant's non-testifying co-defendant implicating Appellant in the murder and armed robberies?

III. Did the trial court's failure to sever the trials of Appellant and his co-defendant violate Appellant's right to confront his accusers in light of the trial court's admission of the co-defendant's redacted statement to police inculcating Appellant and the co-defendant's refusal to testify?

IV. Did the trial judge err as a matter of law by removing Juror #79 after he was selected to serve on the jury when the judge failed to inquire of Juror #79 what information he had and failed to make a determination as to whether the juror intentionally concealed the unknown information, and if so, whether the unknown information would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in the use of the party's peremptory challenges?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A York County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for murder, three counts of armed robbery, assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK), criminal conspiracy, and five counts of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. Indictments; R. 3, ll. 11-25. The Grand Jury indicted Petitioner's co-defendant, Donta Reid, of the same offenses. R. 4, ll. 2-11. Petitioner and his co-defendant proceeded to a joint trial during the week of November 14, 2011 before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III. Derek S. Chiarenza represented Petitioner. Melissa Inzerillo and Ashley Anderson represented the co-defendant. Kevin Brackett and Willie Thompson prosecuted the cases. R. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. R. 862, l. 15 – R. 863, l. 12; R. 865, ll. 1-20. Judge Hayes sentenced Petitioner to life for murder, twenty years for ABWIK, thirty years on each count of armed robbery, and five years on each count of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. All of the sentences were ordered to run concurrently. R. 879, l. 2 – R. 880, l. 17.

This brief timely follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to the start of trial, the trial judge explained that Appellant had moved for severance. The judge explained this motion would be heard “at some point.” Supp. R. 1, ll. 13-14. Additionally, the trial judge explained that Appellant moved to suppress the fourth statement made by his codefendant because the statement inculcated Appellant. Supp. R. 1, ll. 15-19.

Jury Selection

The court then proceeded to jury selection. When the case was called for trial, the trial judge engaged in voir dire of the jury. R. 2, l. 15 – R. 15, l. 20. After introducing the jury to Appellant and his co-defendant, stating the names of the alleged victims in the case, giving an explanation of the charges, and providing the address for the incident location, Judge Hayes asked the jury venire if anyone knew anything about the case. Specifically, the judge asked,

You’ve been introduced to the defendants and the alleged victims and the place where this happened in the day. Do any of you know anything about this case? Have any of you heard about it from any source whatsoever? Or have any of you formed or expressed any opinion about any matter or issue which would be involved in this case. If so, please stand.

R. 6, ll. 1-7. One juror, Bill Berry, Juror #18, responded affirmatively. As a final question, Judge Hayes asked the jury panel: “Do any of you know of any reason whatsoever why you could not or should not serve as a fair and impartial juror on the trial of this particular case; if so, please stand.”

R. 15, ll. 16-19. No one responded. R. 15, l. 19. The parties then struck the jury. R. 16, l. 22 – R. 26, l. 12. During the selection process, Juror #79, Dwight Gilmore, was chosen as a juror. R. 21, l. 24 – R. 22, l. 7.

Prior to Judge Hayes administering the oath, Juror #79 informed the court he had information on the case as a result of a “case study” he prepared for an online class with Waller University. R. 29, ll. 6-9. When the judge explained that he had asked if anyone had any

knowledge or information about the case, Juror #79 responded “[n]ot as much as - - It was, like, in a discussion. It wasn’t....” After dismissing the jury panel, the judge turned to the parties to “deal with the juror.” R. 31, ll. 5-6. The prosecution asked for individual voir dire with the juror “to determine what information he has, and whether or not it will affect his ability to be impartial.” R. 31, ll. 7-10. The co-defendant responded, “I agree with that, Your Honor. But, I would also add that surely had we had this information prior to the selection, it may have affected our selection. So, we would ask that he either be substituted or voir dired.” R. 31, ll. 12-16 (emphasis added). Appellant responded,

Your Honor, I’d like to hear what he’s got to say first as to whether or not he can still be fair or impartial. I wasn’t quite sure exactly what his exposure to this case was or how, particularly since the case hasn’t been adjudicated, what - - Well, I don’t know, I just think - - I agree with the Solicitor, Your Honor, before I would be inclined to make any motion as to what to do with him.

R. 31, ll. 18-25.

To this request, the judge replied “Well, the problem with that is that [co-defendant’s counsel]’s already told me that if she had had this knowledge, she would have exercised her strike. And she’d have been permitted to exercise her strike. Whatever he says, we can’t cure that.” R. 32, ll. 1-5. The prosecution then consented to removing the juror and replacing him with an alternate. R. 32, ll. 6-8. Afterwards, the judge excused Juror #79 from the panel because he had “some previous knowledge about it.” He went on to explain that he could not allow the juror to remain because “as hard as you tried, **I know you would be fair and honest**, it’s still hard to block things out of your mind that are in there.” R. 33, ll. 10-22 (emphasis added). Thereafter, Appellant expressed his approval of the jury that included Juror #79. R. 34, ll. 14-16.

Pretrial motions

After selecting a jury, the parties returned to Appellant's motion to sever the trials. Appellant explained that he and his co-defendant planned to present antagonistic defenses. Additionally, Appellant explained that the statement made by the co-defendant implicated Appellant in the murder and armed robberies. Appellant further explained that even if the prosecution were to redact the statement by his co-defendant, this would not be sufficient to protect Appellant's rights. Appellant explained that the jurors would not be required to make "much of a leap" to "read between the lines" and learn that the co-defendant's statement referred to Appellant. Thus, the statement, even in a redacted form, deprived Appellant of his fundamental right to a fair trial. R. 40, l. 6 – R. 41, l. 5. Appellant made clear that his argument was based upon his right "to confront and cross examine witnesses against him." He also explained that he anticipated the co-defendant would not testify. R. 42, l. 18, R. 43, l. 2.

The prosecution countered that Appellant had shown no "real prejudice." He further argued that judicial economy favored a joint trial. Concerning the statement made by the co-defendant, the prosecution argued the parties could come to a "very good and successful conclusion on how to redact" it. R. 41, ll. 7-25. The prosecutor explained to the judge that the co-defendant gave three statements in which he told officers that Darius Jeter was involved in the crimes. By the fourth statement, the co-defendant "clear[ed] Mr. Jeter" and named everyone else, including Appellant. Again, the prosecutor argued he could "correct any Bruton issue with the redactions" proposed. R. 42, ll. 1-15.

Upon the request of the trial judge, the prosecution read the statement of the co-defendant into the record. App. 67, l. 9 – App. 71, l. 4. The statement made repeated references to Appellant. The prosecution then read the statement in its proposed redacted form. According to the prosecutor,

the redacted statement contained “no blanks or lines that [were] struck through.” He further explained the statement had “been seamlessly put together so that it appears as if it hasn’t been altered at all.” App. 71, l. 6 – 75, l. 7. Essentially, the prosecution changed Appellant’s name to “the guy.”

Turning to the matters of law presented, the trial judge explained that the severance motion was predicated upon the Bruton matter. R. 51, ll. 13-14. The prosecution argued the redactions were not “obvious” because there were “no blanks,” “no blacked out spaces,” and “no large gaps in between paragraphs or sentences or things like that.” The prosecutor explained that in State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 676 S.E.2d 690 (2009), the Supreme Court held replacing the defendant’s name with “she” failed to satisfy Bruton “because by looking at the statement on its face, everyone knew it was still meaning this particular defendant.” The prosecution then attempted to distinguish the facts from Holder from the facts in the instant case by stating that in Holder, there was only one female involved, therefore, when the statement referred to “she,” it obviously referred to the defendant. However, in the instant matter, there was more than one “guy” involved. The state explained that two guys had been charged. The prosecution referred to Darius Jeter who had been implicated in the co-defendant’s first three statements; however, the fourth statement states the group saw Jeter, but just passed him by. The fourth statement exonerated Jeter. R. 52, l. 2 – R53. 77, l. 5.

Along those same lines, the prosecution argued that with the redactions, “you can’t discern who in the world he’s talking about” because he could be talking about “any number of people.” The group gathered at the house of one of the female co-defendants and “you don’t know who other people will be there.” Additionally, the evidence would show that Elijah James was a black male who was at the house, but did not participate in the crime. The prosecutor relied upon State v.

Johnson, 390 S.C. 600, 703 S.E.2d 217 (2010) to support his position. He argued that in Johnson, the investigator testified that after obtaining the statement from a non-testifying witness, which was admitted in a redacted form, the investigator then charged the defendant. Thus, it was “obvious” that the redacted portions of the statement referred to the defendant. The prosecutor countered that he would not present evidence that investigators issued an arrest warrant after obtaining the co-defendant’s statement because the investigators were aware of Appellant’s involvement based upon a statement from one of the females involved. The prosecution then circled back to the fact that the co-defendant had named other people as he went along, leaving “a wide variety of other people that this other person can be.” R. 53, l. 6 – R. 56, l. 1.

Appellant argued introduction of the statement denied him his right to confront the witnesses against him, a substantial right under the Constitution. Additionally, Appellant was incredulous that the jury would “just plug in anybody” into the redacted statement in light of the prior statements and the fact that Appellant and the co-defendant were on trial together. R. 56, l. 22 – R. 57, l. 22.

Nevertheless, the trial judge held the redacted statement satisfied “the current status of the law.” Thus, the judge found no violation of the Confrontation Clause, and found that “[n]o Bruton violations [would] occur as by use of the state’s production of the redacted statements.” Based upon these rulings, the judge denied Appellant’s motion to sever the trials. R. 57, l. 23 – R. 58, l. 13.

Testimony of Tim Ayers

The prosecution called Tim Ayers, a detective with the Rock Hill Police Department to testify. Ayers testified that the morning after the robbery and murder, he and Herring went to the incident location to interview one of the victims, Maurice Jackson. R. 270, ll. 8-14. Based upon their discussion with Jackson, the detectives determined they needed to talk to the co-defendant. R.

282, ll. 14-16. Initially, the co-defendant admitted to stopping by Jackson's home, making a phone call, and then proceeding to the home of another friend. R. 284, l. 22 – R. 285, l. 2. Through their investigation, the detectives learned the co-defendant had not arrived at the home of another friend after leaving Jackson's. R. 286, ll. 2-21. The detectives then obtained a written statement from the co-defendant. In the statement, the co-defendant indicated "Duke" asked him if he knew anyone who had any money or weed, to which the co-defendant responded that Jackson did. The co-defendant went to Jackson's home and called Duke to report the number of people at the residence. The co-defendant then left the residence to meet up with Duke. He observed Duke, who was armed with a .22 caliber rifle, walking toward Jackson's home. A short time later, he heard shots. R. 297, l. 8 – R. 298, l. 17.

Ayers identified Duke as Darius Jeter. After obtaining this statement from the co-defendant, the detectives began looking for Jeter. R. 298, l. 24 – R. 299, l. 6. Later that day, officers arrested Jeter. R. 299, l. 19 – R.300, l.1. After learning what Jeter stated to officers, Ayers approached the co-defendant again. R. 300, ll. 8-13. The co-defendant gave another written statement in which he continued to implicate Duke, but included the involvement of a female named Sam. R. 305, l. 25 – R.308, l. 22. Ayers testified that as a result of what the co-defendant said in this statement, officers interviewed Samantha Ervin. R. 309, l. 24 – R. 310, l. 7. Additionally, the charges against Jeter relating to the murder and armed robbery were dismissed because the investigation revealed Jeter was not involved. R. 341, ll. 3-8.

Testimony of Leslie Herring

Detective Leslie Herring testified on behalf of the state. Herring testified that after learning from Jeter that he had seen the co-defendant with Samantha Ervin on the evening of the incident, the detectives interviewed the co-defendant a third time. R. 460, ll. 12-18. In his third written

statement, the co-defendant implicated Ervin in the robbery and murder. R. 463, l. 24 – R. 464, l. 6. Officers then issued warrants for Ervin's arrest. R. 464, ll. 20-22. Several days later, Ervin gave a statement to Detective Herring. R. 466, ll. 23-24. At that point, Herring obtained warrants on Appellant and Aileen Newman. R. 467, ll. 6-9.

Detective Herring spoke to the co-defendant a fourth time. R. 467, ll. 10-15. The prosecution offered the fourth statement into the record. R. 471, ll. 24 – 25. Appellant renewed his prior objections, which were overruled. R. 472, ll. 2-9. Detective Herring then read the statement, as it had been redacted, to the jury. R. 474, l. 13 – R. 478, l. 5.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in admitting into evidence a statement made by Appellant's non-testifying co-defendant without adequately redacting his claim of Appellant's involvement in violation of Appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments rights to confront and cross-examine the witness, as interpreted by *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123 (1968), and its progeny.

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment, as applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, guarantees criminal defendants the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against them. *Richardson v. Marsh*, 481 U.S. 200, 206 (1987). The United States Supreme Court held that admission of a non-testifying co-defendant's statement that expressly inculcates the defendant violates the defendant's Confrontation Clause in a joint trial. *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 136-137 (1968). Additionally, a limiting instruction is not sufficient to remove any prejudice to the defendant. *Id.* The Supreme Court recognized that in some cases the use of redactions may comply with *Bruton*. *Richardson*, 481 U.S. at 208-209.

Examining this issue again, the Supreme Court held that redactions that are simply replacements of the defendant's name with a blank space, a symbol, or a word such as "deleted," are not sufficient. *Gray v. Maryland*, 523 U.S. 185, 197 (1998). The Court explained the necessity of looking at the kind of inferences necessary to connect the defendant, not the fact of the existence of the inference, in order to determine the applicability of *Bruton*. *Id.* at 196. In *Gray*, the inferences drawn from the statements, even in redacted form, "obviously refer[red] directly to someone, often obviously the defendant, and which involve[d] inferences that a jury ordinarily could make immediately." *Id.* at 196. Such statements are forbidden under *Bruton*. *Id.* at 196-197.

In *Holder*, 382 S.C. at 285-286, 676 S.E.2d at 694, the South Carolina Supreme Court held a trial court erred in admitting a statement by Holder's non-testifying co-defendant concerning

injuries to the victim where the statement was redacted to replace the defendant's name with "she." The "jury could readily determine that the statement referred to her as she was the only female defendant." Id. In a similar case, State v. Johnson, 390 S.C. 600, 703 S.E.2d 217 (2010), our Supreme Court held the trial court erred in admitting a redacted statement by a non-testifying co-defendant in which a nickname was blacked out with magic marker. The redaction eliminated the words "and Knock." Id. at 605, 703 S.E.2d at 219. Although no evidence was introduced to indicate the defendant was known as "Knock," the statement clearly referred to another person. Additionally, the officer testified that based on this statement, he arrested the defendant. Id. at 606, 703 S.E.2d at 220. This "effectively told the jury that [the co-defendant]'s unredacted statement named [the defendant]." Id.

Although not directly on point, our Supreme Court noted "[i]t [could] be forcefully argued that the method of redacting was ineffective" where the statement was redacted to replace the defendant's name with "Mister X." State v. LaBarge, 275 S.C. 168, 170, 268 S.E.2d 278, 280 (1980). As the other testimony unfolded, "Mister X" pointed directly to the defendant. Id. The Court held it was error for the trial judge to refuse to withdraw the statement from evidence after the non-testifying co-defendant changed his plea from not guilty to guilty. Id. at 171, 268 S.E.2d at 280.

In State v. McDonald, Op. No.5033 (S.C. Ct. App. filed September 12, 2012), this Court found no error in admitting the statement of the defendant's non-testifying co-defendant in light of the redaction, which replaced the names of all co-defendants with "another person." This Court found the phrase "another person" to be neutral. Additionally, the Court reasoned that the redacted statement only implicated its maker and did not limit the participants to three, which would implicate the three defendants on trial. Id.

Bruton and its progeny prohibit the admission of the redacted statement at issue in the instant matter. The redaction was not gender neutral as it identified the shooter as a male, by using the term “the guy.” The statement, even in its redacted form, limited the participants to four people, two of whom testified against the defendants and were named specifically in the fourth statement, leaving the remaining two on trial – the confessor and Appellant. The co-defendant’s first three statements were admitted in an unredacted form, naming Darius Jeter. Even in the fourth statement, Jeter’s name appears as someone the group of four passed on the street while on the way to the murder. The obvious inference for the jury to draw was that “the guy” named in the fourth statement was not Darius Jeter, but was Appellant.

II. The trial court violated Appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to confrontation and cross-examination pursuant to Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) by allowing into evidence the statement of Appellant's non-testifying co-defendant implicating Appellant in the murder and armed robberies.

In Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 50-51 (2004), the United States Supreme Court held that testimonial out-of-court statements are not admissible under the Confrontation Clause unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness. Statements given to police during the course of the investigation are testimonial. Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813 (2006); see also State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 401, 673 S.E.2d 434, 439 (2009).

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