STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County

Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2011-204008

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DAVONTAY HENSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

BRENDAN J. McDONALD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 77784

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3188

ATTORNEY(S) FOR RESPONDENTS

RECEIVED

MAY 03 2013

SC Court of Appeals

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

In the wake of Bruton, redaction has come into play as a tool to allow for the admission of a co-defendant's statement in a joint trial. State v. Holmes, 342 S.C. 113, 119, 536 S.E.2d 671, 674 (2000). The purpose of redaction is to allow for the introduction of a statement against a non-testifying defendant who previously gave a statement, while avoiding implicating his co-defendant. Id. This is possible because the Confrontation Clause is not violated when a defendant's name is redacted but other evidence links the statement's application to the defendant and a proper limiting instruction is given. See Richardson, 481 U.S. at 211 (“[T]he Confrontation Clause is not violated by the admission of a non-testifying co-defendant's confession with a proper limiting instruction when, as here, the confession is redacted to eliminate not only the defendant's name, but any reference to his or her existence.”); see also Gray, 523 U.S. at 195; State v. Page, 378 S.C. 476, 481-482, 663 S.E.2d 357, 359-60 (Ct. App. 2008).

Nevertheless, redactions which obviously identify the defendant, even without naming him, create a constitutional violation that, like the unredacted statement in Bruton, cannot be cured by a jury instruction. Gray, 523 U.S. at 195-96. In particular, Gray differentiates statements that incriminate by inference or when linked with later evidence from those that obviously refer to a particular person or involve inferences a jury could make without additional evidence. Id. at 196. Indeed, only in the latter instance does a constitutional violation occur. Id.

For example, in Gray, a case in which a group of six were involved in the beating death of the victim, of which only Gray and Bell were tried on charges of murder, Bell's redacted confession, which was supposed to be offered only against him, was found to implicate Gray because the statement, when read to the jury, went as follows:

Question: “Who was in the group that beat [the victim]?”

Response: “Me, deleted, deleted, and a few other guys.”

Id. at 196. In reversing, the Gray Court found the response “Me, deleted, deleted, and a few other guys” obviously incriminated Gray thereby violating his confrontation rights, because the use of “deleted” basically asked the jury to fill in the blank and question who was deleted and why. Id. at 193. Further explaining the Gray problem, the Court opined:

[T]he obvious deletion may well call the jurors’ attention specially to the removed name. By encouraging the jury to speculate about the reference, the redaction may overemphasize the importance of the confession’s accusation—once the jurors work out the reference. That is why Judge Learned Hand, many years ago, wrote in a similar instance that blacking out the name of a codefendant not only “would have been futile... [T]here could not have been the slightest doubt as to whose names had been blacked out,” but “even if there had been, that blacking out itself would have not only laid the doubt, but underscored the answer.

Id. at 193-94. Illustrating the difference between an appropriate and inappropriate redaction, the Gray Court then provided an example taking the inappropriate redaction and asking, “[w]hy could the witness not, instead, have said:

Question: “Who was in the group that beat [the victim]?”

Response: “Me and a few other guys.”

Id. at 196. In other words, Gray illustrated that an obviously redacted statement which leaves the jury to “speculate” about the reasons the identity of a person is concealed, is at odds with the Confrontation Clause, but a statement, which on its face, does not appear to conceal a person’s identity is constitutionally permissible because the jury is likely to accept the statement at face value rather than questioning it. Id. at 193-94; Id. at 196.

Following Gray, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals applied this reasoning to general references to “another person” or “another individual” in Akinkoye v. United States, 185 F.3d 192, 198 (4th Cir. 1999). Specifically, the Fourth Circuit said that redacted statements taken from Akinkoye, a male, and Afolabi, a female, each of which utilized the redaction mentioned

above, and were offered only against themselves in their joint trial, did not violate either of their rights under the Confrontation Clause, despite the fact their statements said that another person aided them in committing the charged offenses. Id. In so holding, the Fourth Circuit said, “[t]he Supreme Court has strongly implied that such statements do not offend the Sixth Amendment.” Id. Thus, the proposition from Gray, that redactions which are not readily apparent to a juror and do not ask them to speculate whose identity is being concealed, but are instead, accepted at face value, do not violate ones Confrontation Right’s under Bruton.

Indeed this Court, in State v. Garrett, 350 S.C. 613, 567 S.E.2d 523, 526 (Ct. App. 2002) adopted the same reading of Bruton and its’ progeny when it found that a redacted statement in which Garrett’s name was replaced with the redaction, “the other guy” did not violate Garrett’s Right to Confrontation, despite the fact that both Garrett and Davis, who were both males, were tried jointly. In Garrett, the victims were beaten, forced into the trunk of their car, and driven around by their assailants until they managed to escape. Garrett was identified as a suspect and tried with co-defendant Davis. Davis did not testify at trial, but the State introduced his redacted statement implicating himself, China, Cunningham, and “another guy” in the crime. Based upon this statement, Garrett moved for severance prior to the statement’s admission, arguing the statement was inherently prejudicial because it implicated him as the “other guy.” Id., 567 S.E.2d at 524-25. The trial court rejected this argument and on appeal, the Garrett Court upheld the trial court’s denial of the severance motion finding that because the redacted statement did not incriminate Garrett, “on its face,” and was accompanied by the appropriate limiting instruction, Garrett’s Confrontation Rights were not at issue. Id., 567 S.E.2d at 526. Thus, Garrett essentially took the rationale from Gray, that the introduction of a redacted statement from a non-testifying co-defendant which does not appear to conceal a person’s identity is

constitutionally permissible so long as the statement does not implicate the accused on its' face, and applied it to essentially the same factual scenario that are present here.

In the aftermath of Garrett, South Carolina Courts have consistently applied the rule from Gray in determining whether redactions sufficiently protect the accused, and, if so, considering whether the statement made by the non-testifying co-defendant is facially incriminating. Specifically, in State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 285-86, 676 S.E.2d 690, 694 (2009) a homicide by child abuse case, our Supreme Court found the redacted statement from Holder's co-defendant stating that he "felt like *she* had been inflicting [bruises]" on the victim, Holder's young son, was facially incriminating and therefore, the admission of the statement was error. In other words, while the redaction itself, in this case the use of the word "she" was appropriate, the statement was still facially incriminating based on the allegations Holder faced. Specifically, because Holder was charged with homicide by child abuse and she was the primary caretaker of the victim, who was her young son, the statement made by Holder's co-defendant indicating that he believed "she" was responsible for his injuries to the victim clearly incriminated Holder on its' face. Id. Therefore, Holder is clearly a fact-driven holding in that the statement when viewed against the allegations Holder was facing essentially resulted in a perfect storm of facts and circumstances which made the redacted statement at issue facially incriminating.

In fact, the situation in Holder, is quite different from the situation in State v. Johnson, 390 S.C. 600, 606-07, 703 S.E.2d 217, 220 (2010) insofar as Johnson, like the court in Gray, found the *type of redaction* utilized, specifically the use of a black magic marker to redact references to Johnson, created a Gray situation. In particular, the Johnson Court observed "the redacted confession clearly has a name eliminated from it, and the jury was charged about this

omission” but later explained, “[t]his type of instruction cannot mitigate a Confrontation Clause violation.” Id.

Thus, it seems clear that South Carolina’s Courts, like the Supreme Court of the United States, asks two questions when reviewing the admission of a redacted statement in Bruton-type situations. First, does the method of redaction utilized in the non-testifying co-defendant’s statement require the jury to speculate or fill in any obvious blanks? And second, if it does not, does the statement itself facially incriminate the accused?

B. Appellant’s Confrontation Rights were not Violated since the Method used to Redact Reid’s Statement did not leave the jury to speculate or fill in any obvious blanks and Reid’s Statement Does not Facially Incriminate Appellant

The State submits Appellant’s Confrontation Rights were not violated by the admission of Reid’s redacted statement. First, the method of redaction was clearly consistent with the example provided in Gray, in that the redactions were seamless and there was no risk the jury, when reviewing the statement, would do anything but evaluate the statement on its face. Indeed, it seems clear the redaction problems noted in Gray and Johnson are simply not present on these facts. The State’s redactions never required the jury to speculate or fill in any obvious blanks. This is remarkably different from cases such as Gray or Johnson where the jury was in fact aware that the statement in issue attempted to conceal a specific individual’s identity which of course, could lead the jury to speculate as to whose identity is being protected and why. In fact, contrary to both Gray and Johnson, a juror in Appellant’s case, when reviewing the redacted statement, would have no reason to believe Reid’s statement was anything other than his own words.

Moreover, the substance of the redactions were clearly consistent with both the example provided in Gray and the redactions that were approved of by this Court in Garrett. Specifically,

the Gray Court, by using the phrase “some other guys” in a case with five other men at least tacitly approved of the redaction used in this case. Additionally, the redactions used by the State in this case are consistent with previous precedent from this Court in Garrett. Thus, it cannot be said that the use of the phrase “the guy who done the shooting,” “the guy who did the shooting,” “the guy,” “him,” and “he” are at odds with the redactions “some other guy” that were used in Garrett; especially where both cases involved only two co-defendants with only one of the two co-defendants in each case providing a statement.

Furthermore, a review of the redacted statement itself plainly reveals that it does not implicate Appellant on its’ face as did the statement in Holder. Importantly, there is no mention of Appellant’s first or last name. Likewise, there are no references to Appellant’s nickname “B’more.” In other words, there is nothing within the statement itself that would inform the reader that Appellant was “the guy that did the shooting.” Thus, while it is true that Reid’s statement specifically names three individuals and references the fourth individual as “a guy,” this does not render the statement facially incriminating simply because Appellant, like the unknown person in the statement, is a “guy.” Indeed, after reviewing Reid’s redacted statement, the only reasonable inference one could come to is that Reid is either protecting the identity of the individual involved in the shooting, or, simply does not know the name of “the guy that did the shooting.” Therefore, when taking these facts in conjunction with the trial court’s jury instruction that Reid’s statement could only be used against Reid, an instruction which under South Carolina law, jurors are presumed to follow, there is no Bruton violation since the statement does not facially incriminate Appellant. See State v. Dunlap, 346 S.C. 312, 319, 550 S.E.2d 889, 893 (Ct. App. 2001), aff’d as modified on writ of cert., 353 S.C. 539, 579 S.E.2d 318 (2003) (quoting Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590 n.1, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 n. 1 (1999) (“A jury is

presumed to [have followed the trial judge's] instructions."'). As such, Appellant's Confrontation Clause Rights are not implicated meaning the trial court properly denied Appellant' motion to sever his and Reid's joint trial.¹² Accordingly, the State asks this Court to affirm on this issue.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing Juror #79 since the issue is unavailable for appellate review. Reid's counsel said she would have likely struck Juror #79 and after further discussion on the matter, did in fact ask the trial court to substitute an alternate for Juror #79

In his fourth issue on appeal, Appellant maintains the trial court abused its' discretion in failing to allow for additional *voir dire* of Juror #79 when, prior to the jury being sworn, he disclosed he was previously involved in a case study and discussion regarding the matter in his criminal justice class. Specifically, Appellant contends the trial court erred because after the State and counsel for both Reid and Appellant agreed additional *voir dire* would be helpful in determining whether to seat an alternate, the trial court failed to do so, and instead, at Reid's attorney's insistence, sat an alternate.

In response, the State notes this issue is unpreserved. First, Appellant failed to register any sort of contemporaneous objection when the trial court initially made such a remark and then later consented to the request by Reid's counsel to seat an alternate. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (requiring an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review). Furthermore, even if one could somehow argue this issue was raised to and ruled upon in some form or fashion, it is obvious the

¹² Also, in the event this Court disagrees with the State's analysis of this issue, any error would be harmless. See Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427, 430 (1972) (stating "in some cases the properly admitted evidence of guilt is so overwhelming, and the prejudicial effect of the co-defendant's admission is so insignificant by comparison, it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt the improper use of the admission was harmless error"); State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994) (concluding a reviewing court must determine an error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt); Arnold v. State, 309 S.C. 157, 420 S.E.2d 834 (1992) (holding harmless beyond a reasonable doubt means the reviewing court can conclude the error did not contribute to the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt). Here, because Newman and Ervin's testimony regarding the planning and execution of the robbery entirely corroborate the substance of Reid's fourth statement any error is harmless especially when combined with both Cunningham and Jackson's testimony regarding how the robbery unfolded. Understanding this, the State submits any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

argument Appellant now advances was never raised to the trial court. See State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, --, 706 S.E.2d 16, 20 (2011) (“Our law is clear that an issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal.”); I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (holding an appellant must present both his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before presenting the issues and arguments on appeal).

In I’On, the Supreme Court of South Carolina explained the preservation requirement placed on an appellant stating, the “preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered *all relevant facts, law, and arguments.*” 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (emphasis added). Elaborating, the I’On Court found, “the requirement also serves as a keen incentive for a party to prepare a case thoroughly. It prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve - intentionally or by chance - in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” Id.

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